

Different communication strategies for disclosing a diagnosis of schizophrenia and related disorders (Review)

Farooq S, Johal RK, Ziff C, Naeem F

Farooq S, Johal RK, Ziff C, Naeem F. Different communication strategies for disclosing a diagnosis of schizophrenia and related disorders. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2017, Issue 10. Art. No.: CD011707. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD011707.pub2.

www.cochranelibrary.com



TABLE OF CONTENTS

HEADER	1
ABSTRACT	1
PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY	2
SUMMARY OF FINDINGS FOR THE MAIN COMPARISON	3
BACKGROUND	5
OBJECTIVES	6
METHODS	6
RESULTS	13
Figure 1	14
DISCUSSION	15
AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS	16
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	17
REFERENCES	17
CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES	20
DATA AND ANALYSES	22
ADDITIONAL TABLES	22
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	23
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST	23
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	24
DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW	24

[Intervention Review]

Different communication strategies for disclosing a diagnosis of schizophrenia and related disorders

Saeed Farooq¹, Rupinder K Johal², Charlotte Ziff³, Farooq Naeem²

¹Research Institute for Primary Care and Health Sciences, Keele University, Staffordshire, UK. ²Department of Psychiatry, Queen's University, Kingston, Canada. ³Department of Oncology, New Cross Hospital, Wolverhampton, UK

Contact address: Saeed Farooq, Research Institute for Primary Care and Health Sciences, Keele University, Staffordshire, ST5 5BG, UK. sfarooqlrh@yahoo.com.

Editorial group: Cochrane Schizophrenia Group. Publication status and date: New, published in Issue 10, 2017.

Citation: Farooq S, Johal RK, Ziff C, Naeem F. Different communication strategies for disclosing a diagnosis of schizophrenia and related disorders. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2017, Issue 10. Art. No.: CD011707. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD011707.pub2.

Copyright © 2017 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

Background

Delivering the diagnosis of a serious illness is an important skill in most fields of medicine, including mental health. Research has found that communication skills can impact on a person's recall and understanding of the diagnosis, treatment options and prognosis. People may feel confused and perplexed when information about their illness is not communicated properly. Sharing information about diagnosis of a serious mental illness is particularly challenging. The nature of mental illness is often difficult to explain since there may be no clear aetiology, and the treatment options and prognosis may vary enormously. In addition, newly diagnosed psychiatric patients, who are actively ill, often may not accept their diagnosis due to lack of insight or stigma attached to the condition. There are several interventions that aim to help clinicians to communicate life changing medical diagnoses to people; however, little is known specifically for delivering a diagnosis of schizophrenia.

Objectives

To evaluate evidence from randomised controlled trials (RCTs) for the efficacy of different communication strategies used by clinicians to inform people about the diagnosis and outcome of schizophrenia compared with treatment as usual and to compare efficacy between different communication strategies.

Search methods

On 22 June 2015 and 29 June 2016, we searched the Cochrane Schizophrenia Group's Study-Based Register of Trials. We also searched sources of grey literature (e.g., dissertations, theses, clinical reports, evaluations published on websites, clinical guidelines and reports from regulatory agencies).

Selection criteria

We planned to include all relevant RCTs that included adults with schizophrenia or related disorders, including schizophreniform disorder, schizoaffective disorder and delusional disorder. The trials would have investigated the effects of communication strategy or strategies that helped clinicians deliver information specifically about a diagnosis of schizophrenia (which can also include communication regarding the treatment options available and prognosis).

Different communication strategies for disclosing a diagnosis of schizophrenia and related disorders (Review) Copyright © 2017 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Data collection and analysis

Review authors independently examined all reports from the searches for any relevant studies. We planned to extract data independently. For binary outcomes, we would have calculated risk ratio (RR) and its 95% confidence interval (CI), on an intention-to-treat basis. For continuous data, we would have estimated the mean difference (MD) between groups and its 95% CI. We would have employed a random-effects model for analyses. We planned to assess risk of bias for included studies. We created a 'Summary of findings' table using GRADE.

Main results

The searches identified 44 records which appeared to be relevant to the aims of the review. We obtained full reports for seven potential studies; however, after close inspection none of these studies met the inclusion criteria.

Authors' conclusions

Good communication of diagnosis can affect treatment planning, compliance and patient outcomes, especially in the case of conditions such as schizophrenia, which has the potential to cause serious life disruption for both people with schizophrenia and their carers. Currently, there is no evidence based on findings from RCTs assessing the effects of communication strategies for disclosing the diagnosis of schizophrenia and related disorders. Research is required.

PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

Sharing information about the diagnosis and outcomes of schizophrenia: evidence from well-designed clinical trials

Background

Health professionals have a duty to give information to their patients in a way that is understandable, especially when the condition is severe and life altering. Schizophrenia and similar related disorders are serious mental illnesses that can have long term, disruptive effects on the lives of both patients and their carers. The way a person is told they have a serious illness and what having this illness will mean for them can affect how they accept their diagnosis and treatment plans which then ultimately can affect their recovery and long-term outlook. At the moment, there is no information or evidence regarding how best to disclose a diagnosis of schizophrenia.

Searching for evidence

In June 2015 and June 2016, we explored the medical literature and the Cochrane Schizophrenia Group's study-based register using appropriate keywords to find any studies which evaluated a method that guided or helped health professionals with how to deliver the news about the diagnosis of schizophrenia. We specifically searched for randomised controlled trials as these are considered the best way (gold standard) to evaluate the effects of treatments. We identified 44 publications and inspected these. From these, we obtained seven full reports of trials and that we thought could be relevant; however, none of these studies could be included in the review.

Conclusions

Currently health professionals can use good quality, evidence based information to guide them in the sharing of news about diagnosis of a serious physical illnesses; however, there is no such evidence available concerning the sharing of news about the diagnosis of schizophrenia. This is a serious gap in knowledge which needs attention and studies are needed in this area.

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS FOR THE MAIN COMPARISON [Explanation]

Communication strategies for compared with treatment as usual for disclosing a diagnosis of schizophrenia or related disorders

Patient or population: people with schizophrenia and their carers Settings: hospital or community Intervention: communication strategy to impart information about diagnosis of schizophrenia Comparison: treatment as usual

Outcomes	No of participants (studies)	Quality of the evidence (GRADE)	Comments
Engagement with services: clinically important change in engagement with services, as defined by individual studies	-	-	No evidence from randomised trials.
Treatment adherence: clinically important change in treatment adherence, as defined by individual studies	-	-	
Understanding: clinically important change in understand- ing the nature of illness and its outcome, as defined by individual studies		-	
Quality of life: clinically important change in general quality of life or well-being, as defined by individual studies		•	
Mental state: clinically important change in mental state, as defined by individual studies	-	-	
Satisfaction communication of diagno- sis: clinically important change (patient or carer's), as defined by individual studies		-	

Adverse effect: clinically important adverse effect of intervention - as defined by individual studies

GRADE Working Group grades of evidence

High quality: Further research is very unlikely to change our confidence in the estimate of effect.

Moderate quality: Further research is likely to have an important impact on our confidence in the estimate of effect and may change the estimate. Low quality: Further research is very likely to have an important impact on our confidence in the estimate of effect and is likely to change the estimate. Very low quality: We are very uncertain about the estimate.

BACKGROUND

Description of the condition

Schizophrenia and related disorders are a group of serious mental illnesses typically characterised by the presence of delusions, hallucinations, disorganised speech, disorganised behaviour and negative symptoms (avolition, apathy, anhedonia, alogia, affective blunting). Schizophrenia typically presents for males in early adulthood or late adolescence (for females the age of onset is slightly later) and affects around 0.30% to 0.66% of people at some point in their life (McGrath 2008). Schizophrenia impairs quality of life and severely impacts the ability of a person to live and work (Krupa 2004).

Diagnosing schizophrenia is not straightforward. The validity of the concept and even the term schizophrenia is fiercely debated and it can be profoundly stigmatising (Lieberman 2007). Most early intervention and prodromal services prefer the term psychosis instead of schizophrenia, although the effects of using the term psychosis or any other alternative to schizophrenia is also currently not evidence based. The two major classification systems, the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM) and International Classification of Diseases (ICD-10), have different requirements of symptom duration for the diagnosis of schizophrenia. While the DSM requires presence of symptoms for a minimum of six months, the ICD-10 warrants a minimum duration of one month. The DSM-IV has a requirement for social/occupational dysfunction; the ICD-10 had no such requisite (APA 2013). Once diagnosed, delivering the diagnosis and sharing information about the treatment options and prognosis of schizophrenia with the person can be very challenging for clinicians. The nature of the condition is often difficult to explain since there is no clear aetiology and outcome is variable. Unlike most physical illnesses, people may not accept a mental health diagnosis due to lack of insight or stigma. Feelings of alienation, devaluation by others, worry about being viewed unfavourably and avoidance of self-disclosure about mental illness are among the most common reported stigma experiences for people with schizophrenia (Dickerson 2002).

Description of the intervention

A communication strategy is defined as any intervention aimed at improving communication between mental health professionals and patients or carers, or both. Effective medical communication strategies take into account the nature and stage of illness, a person's view of the illness, their help-seeking behaviour and their prior knowledge.

A number of different models for breaking bad news regarding health have been published in other branches of medicine. The most commonly reported model is SPIKES (Buckman 1992). This model has six steps for breaking news of a serious diagnosis: 1. start off well, 2. find out how much the patient/family knows, 3. find out how much the patient/family want to know, 4. share the information, 5. respond to patient's/family feelings and 6. plan and follow through (Buckman 1992). These steps have been modified for different conditions, including, in mental health, dementia (Carpenter 2004) and learning disability (Tuffrey-Wijne 2013), but not specifically for schizophrenia. Seeman 2010 suggested that the SPIKES model could be applied to schizophrenia; however, this suggestion is based on qualitative information.

It should be noted that the communication strategy we are discussing here is different to general communication skills between clinicians and patients. These communication skills are related to discussions of the condtions and treatment options for that and is the focus of another Cochrane Review (Papageorgiou 2017). Similarly psychoeducation which is designed to inform and help people learn about their illness is also covered by another review (Xia 2011). The intervention for this review is a strategy or set of communication strategies specifically for delivery of the diagnosis and outcome of schizophrenia.

How the intervention might work

The diagnosis of a severe mental illness such as schizophrenia can cause anxiety and despair when delivered without consideration of the person's views about mental illness and the potential effects of the diagnosis on their mental health. Carers can also be affected by receiving such news. Good initial delivery of information about having a severe mental illness aids informed decisionmaking about treatment and empowers people and their families. Such interventions in the form of different communication strategies can help to reduce anxiety, fear and stigma. They may help to foster better engagement with mental health services, which can lead to better compliance with treatment.

Why it is important to do this review

Doctors have a duty to provide information to people in a way that is understandable to them (General Medical Council 2009). Delivering information about a serious diagnosis or life-threatening outcomes is an important skill in most fields of medicine, such as oncology, paediatrics and obstetrics (Fallowfield 2004). Given the plethora of research in other medical disciplines, it is surprising that in psychiatry, research on communicating information about a serious illness is mostly limited to dementia (Cleary 2009; Mitchell 2007).

The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidelines recommend that information about the causes and treatment options for schizophrenia be discussed with the patient and their carers, but does not offer advice on how to communicate to a person the news that he or she has been diagnosed with schizophrenia (NICE 2009). Currently there is no clear strat-

egy available and people with schizophrenia have varied experiences. One literature review on disclosure of mental health diagnosis found that of service users with schizophrenia, 45% received no information regarding their diagnosis compared to a mean of 20% for other mental health diagnoses. There were similar findings in psychiatrist surveys (Clafferty 2001; Luderer 1993; McDonald-Scott 1992; Shergill 1998), except when episodes were recurrent (Clafferty 2001). McDonald-Scott found providing a substitute diagnosis in place of a schizophrenia diagnosis is reported as common practice, and this remained the case even when exact diagnostic information was sought by service-users (McDonald-Scott 1992).

In a multicultural society, cross-cultural issues can pose another challenge. One cross-cultural study revealed that 30% of North Americans and more than 70% of Japanese psychiatrists would not inform people about their diagnosis of schizophrenia (McDonald-Scott 1992). In addition, there are some Chinese-American psychiatrists who believe that not disclosing a diagnosis of schizophrenia to be one of the most effective treatment approaches when working with Chinese-American people (Hwang 2008).

Psychiatric literature on sharing news about serious mental illness is, at the moment, mostly limited to questionnaire-based surveys of psychiatrist and other mental health professionals about their practice (Clafferty 2001; Cleary 2009; Green 1984; Marzanski 2000; Üçok 2004), family members (Lauber 2003), and semistructured interviews with patients (Gallagher 2010).

Therefore, we feel it is important to evaluate the available evidence and determine if more research is needed. The present review aims to help to identify available interventions and evaluate their effectiveness. This will assist in providing an evidence base and developing guidelines for best practice in this area. It can also identify gaps in the knowledge so we can gather information that leads to better design and implementation of future randomised controlled trials (RCT).

OBJECTIVES

To evaluate evidence from randomised controlled trials (RCTs) for the efficacy of different communication strategies used by clinicians to inform people about the diagnosis and outcome of schizophrenia compared with treatment as usual and to compare efficacy between different communication strategies.

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

All relevant RCTs. If a trial was described as 'double blind' but implied randomisation, we would have included such trials in a sensitivity analysis (see Sensitivity analysis). We would have excluded quasi-randomised studies, such as those allocating by alternate days of the week. Where participants are given additional interventions within an information-sharing strategy, we would only have included data if the adjunct treatment was evenly distributed between groups and only the information-sharing strategy was randomised.

Types of participants

Adults and adolescents (aged more than 16 years) however defined, with schizophrenia or related disorders, including schizophreniform disorder, schizoaffective disorder and delusional disorder, by any means of diagnosis. The communication strategies may also have involved carers and relatives. Communication strategies involving relatives would have needed to be described as such. We would have reported outcomes about carers separately. We would have only included trials where over 50% of the participants had schizophrenia.

To ensure that information was as relevant to the current care of people with schizophrenia we planned to clearly highlight the current clinical state (acute, early postacute, partial remission, remission) and the stage (prodromal, first episode, early illness, persistent) and as to whether the studies primarily focused on people with particular problems (e.g. subtypes of schizophrenia).

Types of interventions

I. Communication strategies

Information-sharing strategies designed to help clinicians communicate the diagnosis of schizophrenia to people with schizophrenia and their carers.

We defined these as any intervention aimed at improving communication between mental health professionals and patients or carers, or both about the diagnosis of schizophrenia. This communication could also have involved discussion regarding treatment options and prognosis.

We hypothesised that a communication strategy should address the following areas:

- 1. when to communicate the diagnosis;
- 2. what information should (and should not) be

communicated;

3. how to communicate this information.

Communication strategies may have included different components such as cultural, medical, legal and ethical considerations. They may also have included communication with carers or with patients who may have limited or no insight into their condition.

2. Treatment as usual

The controls may have included no particular strategy (usually described as treatment as usual)

We aimed, if possible, to also compare different communication strategies with each other.

Types of outcome measures

We planned to divide all outcomes into short term (less than six months), medium term (six to 12 months) and long term (over one year). Primary outcomes were engagement with services and treatment adherence. We also aimed to evaluate strategies in terms of improvement in understanding the nature of the illness and its outcome, psychopathology, disability and satisfaction with health care. We would have only used scale data measured using validated scales (see Data extraction and management).

Primary outcomes

1. Engagement with services

1.1. Clinically important change in engagement with services, as defined by individual studies.

2. Treatment adherence

2.1. Clinically important change in treatment adherence, as defined by individual studies.

Secondary outcomes

1. Engagement with services

1.1. Any change in engagement with services, as defined by individual studies.

2. Treatment adherence

2.1. Any change in treatment adherence, as defined by individual studies.

3. Understanding

3.1. Clinically important change in understanding the nature of illness and its outcome, as defined by individual studies.

3.2. Any change in understanding the nature of illness and its outcome, as defined by individual studies.

3.3. Change in insight.

3.4. Change in patients' beliefs about illness.

4. Quality of life or well-being

4.1. Clinically important change in general quality of life or wellbeing, as defined by individual studies.

4.2. Any change in quality of life or well-being, as defined by individual studies.

4.3. Mean endpoint/change score in general quality of life score or well-being scales.

5. Mental state

5.1. Clinically important change in mental state, as defined by individual studies.

5.2. Any change in mental state, as defined by individual studies.

5.3. Mean endpoint/change score in mental state scales.

6. General functioning

6.1. Clinically important change in general functioning, as defined by individual studies.

6.2. Any change in general functioning, as defined by individual studies.

6.3. Mean endpoint/change score on general functioning scales.

7. Behaviour

7.1. Clinically important change in behaviour (e.g. self-harm), as defined by individual studies.

7.2. Any change in behaviour, as defined by individual studies.

7.3. Mean endpoint/change score behaviour scales.

8. Satisfaction with communication of diagnosis

8.1. Clinically important change in patient satisfaction, as defined by individual studies.

8.2. Clinically important change in carer satisfaction, as defined by individual studies.

8.3. Clinically important change in health professional satisfaction, as defined by individual studies.

8.4. Mean endpoint/change score on satisfaction scales.

8.5. Leaving the study early.

9. Adverse effects from disclosure of diagnosis for patient or carers

9.1. Clinically important adverse effect, as defined by individual studies.

10. Economic

^{10.1.} Direct costs.10.2. Indirect costs.

'Summary of findings' table

We planned to use the GRADE approach to interpret findings (Schünemann 2011) as well as GRADEpro to import data from Review Manager 5 to create 'Summary of findings' tables. These tables provide outcome-specific information concerning the overall quality of evidence from each included study in the comparison, the magnitude of effect of the interventions examined and the sum of available data on all outcomes we rate as important to patient-care and decision making. We aimed to select the following main outcomes for inclusion in the 'Summary of findings' table:

1. engagement with services: clinically important change in engagement with services, as defined by individual studies;

2. treatment adherence: clinically important change in treatment adherence, as defined by individual studies;

3. understanding: clinically important change in

understanding the nature of illness and its outcome, as defined by individual studies;

4. quality of life: clinically important change in general quality of life or well-being, as defined by individual studies;

5. mental state: clinically important change in mental state, as defined by individual studies.

6. satisfaction communication of diagnosis: clinically important change (patient or carer's), as defined by individual studies;

7. adverse effects: clinically important adverse effect of intervention, as defined by individual studies.

In future versions, if data are not available for these prespecified outcomes but are available for ones that are similar, we will present the closest outcome to the prespecified one in the table but take this into account when grading the finding.

Search methods for identification of studies

Electronic searches

Cochrane Schizophrenia Group's Study-Based Register of Trials

On 22 June 2015 and 29 June 2016, the information specialist of the Cochrane Schizophrenia Group searched the register using the following search strategy:

Communication in Intervention Field of STUDY

In such a study-based register, searching the major concept retrieves all the synonyms and relevant studies because all the studies have already been organised based on their interventions and linked to the relevant topics.

This register is compiled by systematic searches of major resources (including MEDLINE, Embase, AMED, BIOSIS, CINAHL, PsycINFO, PubMed and registries of clinical trials) and their monthly updates, handsearches, grey literature and conference proceedings (see Group's Module). There is no language, date, document type or publication status limitations for inclusion of records into the register.

For other searches, see Appendix 1.

Searching other resources

I. Reference searching

We would have inspected references of all included studies for further relevant studies.

2. Personal contact

We would have contacted the first author of each included study for information regarding unpublished trials.

3. Handsearching

We also searched sources of grey literature (such as dissertations and theses, clinical reports, evaluations published on websites, clinical guidelines and reports from regulatory agencies).

Data collection and analysis

Selection of studies

Two review authors (FN and RJ) independently inspected citations from the searches to identify relevant abstracts. A third review author (SF) independently re-inspected a random 20% sample to ensure reliability. If disputes had occurred, we would have acquired the full report for more detailed scrutiny.

Data extraction and management

I. Extraction

Two review authors (FN and SF) would have extracted data from all included studies. To ensure reliability, RJ would have independently extracted data from a random sample of these studies, comprising 10% of the total. Any disagreement would have been discussed, decisions documented and, if necessary, authors of studies contacted for clarification. We would have extracted data presented only in graphs and figures wherever possible, but include only if two review authors independently reached the same conclusion. Where necessary to obtain missing information or for clarification, we would have attempted to contact authors through an open-ended request. If studies had been multicentre, we would have extracted data relevant to each component centre separately where possible.

2. Management

2.1. Forms

We would have extracted data on to standard data extraction forms.

2.2. Scale-derived data

We would include continuous data from rating scales only if: 1. the psychometric properties of the measuring instrument

had been described in a peer-reviewed journal (Marshall 2000); 2. the measuring instrument had not been written or modified

by one of the trialists for that particular trial and 3. the instrument was a global assessment of an area of functioning and not subscores which are not, in themselves, validated or shown to be reliable. However, there are exceptions, we would have included subscores from mental state scales measuring positive and negative symptoms of schizophrenia. Ideally the measuring instrument should have been either be a self-report or completed by an independent rater or relative (not the therapist). We realise that this is not often reported clearly; in 'Description of studies' we would have noted if this is the case or not.

2.3. Endpoint versus change data

There are advantages of both endpoint and change data: change data can remove a component of between-person variability from the analysis; however, calculation of change needs two assessments (baseline and endpoint) that can be difficult to obtain in unstable and difficult-to-measure conditions such as schizophrenia. We decided primarily to use endpoint data, and only use change data if endpoint were not available. If necessary, we would have combined endpoint and change data in the analysis, as we prefer to use mean differences (MDs) rather than standardised mean differences (SMDs) throughout (Deeks 2011).

2.4. Skewed data

Continuous data on clinical and social outcomes are often not normally distributed. To avoid the pitfall of applying parametric tests to non-parametric data, we would have applied the following standards to relevant continuous data before inclusion. For endpoint data from studies including fewer than 200 participants:

1. when a scale starts from the finite number zero, we would have subtracted the lowest possible value from the mean, and divided this by the standard deviation (SD). If this value was lower than one, it would strongly suggest that the data were skewed and we would have excluded these data. If this ratio was higher than one but less than two, there would have been suggestion that the data were skewed: we would have entered these data and tested whether their inclusion or exclusion would have changed the results substantially. If such data changed results, we would have entered them as 'other data.' Finally, if the ratio was larger than two we would have included these data, because it was less likely that they were skewed (Altman 1996; Higgins 2011a);

2. if a scale started from a positive value (such as the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS), which can have values from 30 to 210 (Kay 1986)), we would have modified the calculation described above to take the scale starting point into account. In these cases, skewed data were present if 2 SD > (S - S_{min}), where S was the mean score and S_{min} was the minimum score.

Note: we would have entered all relevant data from studies of more than 200 participants in the analysis irrespective of the above rules, because skewed data pose less of a problem in large studies. We would also have entered all relevant change data, as when continuous data are presented on a scale that includes a possibility of negative values (such as change data), it is difficult to determine whether or not data are skewed.

2.5. Common measure

To facilitate comparison between trials, we intended to convert variables that could have been reported in different metrics, such as days in hospital (mean days per year, per week or per month) to a common metric (e.g. mean days per month).

2.6. Conversion of continuous data to binary data

Where possible, we planned to convert continuous outcome measures to dichotomous data. This can be done by identifying cutoff points on rating scales and dividing participants accordingly into 'clinically improved' or 'not clinically improved' groups. It is generally assumed that if there is a 50% reduction in a scale-derived score such as the Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale or the PANSS (Kay 1986; Overall 1962), this could be considered to be a clinically significant response (Leucht 2005a; Leucht 2005b). If data based on these thresholds were not available, we would have used the primary cutoff presented by the original authors.

2.7. Direction of graphs

We intended, where possible, to enter data in such a way that the area to the left of the line of no effect indicated a favourable outcome for 'strategies to share the information' compared to no strategy or treatment as usual. Where doing this made it impossible to avoid outcome titles with clumsy double-negatives (e.g. 'not unimproved'), we would have reported data where the left of the line indicated an unfavourable outcome.

Assessment of risk of bias in included studies

Two review authors (SF and ZC) would have worked independently to assess risk of bias using criteria described in the *Cochrane*

Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions (Higgins 2011b). This set of criteria is based on evidence of associations between overestimate of effect and high risk of bias of the article such as sequence generation, allocation concealment, blinding, incomplete outcome data and selective reporting.

If the raters had disagreed, the final rating was to be made by consensus involving all review authors. If details of randomisation and other characteristics of trials had been inadequate, we would have contacted authors of the studies to obtain further information. We would have reported non-concurrence in quality assessment, but if disputes arose as to which category a trial was to be allocated, again, we would have resolved them by discussion.

We would have noted the level of risk of bias in both the text of the review and in the 'Summary of findings' table.

Measures of treatment effect

I. Binary data

For binary outcomes, we planned to calculate a standard estimation of the risk ratio (RR) and its 95% confidence interval (CI). It has been shown that RR is more intuitive than odds ratios and that odds ratios tend to be interpreted as RR by clinicians (Boissel 1999; Deeks 2000). The number needed to treat for an additional harmful outcome statistic with its CIs is intuitively attractive to clinicians, but is problematic both in its accurate calculation in meta-analyses and interpretation (Hutton 2009). Where possible, for binary data presented in the 'Summary of findings' table, we planned to calculate illustrative comparative risks.

2. Continuous data

For continuous outcomes, we planned to estimate the MD between groups. We prefer not to calculate effect size measures (SMD). However, if scales of very considerable similarity had been used, we would have presumed there was a small difference in measurement, and would have calculated effect size and transform the effect back to the units of one or more of the specific instruments.

Unit of analysis issues

I. Cluster trials

Studies increasingly employ 'cluster randomisation' (such as randomisation by a clinician or practice), but analysis and pooling of clustered data pose problems. First, authors often fail to account for intraclass correlation in clustered studies, leading to a 'unit of analysis' error whereby P values are spuriously low, CIs unduly narrow and statistical significance overestimated (Divine 1992). This causes type I errors (Bland 1997; Gulliford 1999).

Where clustering is not accounted for in primary studies, we would have presented data in a table with an asterisk symbol to indicate the presence of a probable unit of analysis error. We have sought statistical advice and have been advised that the binary data as presented in a report should be divided by a 'design effect.' This is calculated using the mean number of participants per cluster (m) and the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) (design effect = $1 + (m - 1) \times ICC$) (Donner 2002). If the ICC was not reported, we decided to assume it to be 0.1 (Ukoumunne 1999).

2. Cross-over trials

A major concern of cross-over trials is the carry-over effect, which occurs if an effect (e.g. pharmacological, physiological or psychological) of the treatment in the first phase is carried over to the second phase. As a consequence, on entry to the second phase, the participants can differ systematically from their initial state despite a washout phase. For the same reason, cross-over trials are not appropriate if the condition of interest is unstable (Elbourne 2002). As both effects are very likely in severe mental illness, we would have only used data of the first phase of cross-over studies.

3. Studies with multiple treatment groups

Where a study involved more than two treatment arms, we planned to present the additional treatment arms, if relevant, in comparisons. If data were binary, we would have combined these within the two-by-two table. If data were continuous, we would have combined data following the formula in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Higgins 2011a).

Dealing with missing data

I. Overall loss of credibility

At a certain degree of loss to follow-up data loses credibility (Xia 2009). We chose that, for any particular outcome, should more than 50% of data be unaccounted for, we would not reproduce these data or use them within analyses. However, if more than 50% of data in one arm of a study were lost, but the total loss was less than 50%, we would have addressed this within the 'Summary of findings' table by downgrading quality. We would also downgrade quality if the loss was 25% to 50% in total.

2. Binary

In the case where attrition for a binary outcome was between 0% and 50% and where these data were not clearly described, we would have presented data on a 'once-randomised-always-analyse' basis (an intention-to-treat analysis (ITT)). Participants leaving the study early were all assumed to have the same rates of negative outcome as those who completed. We would have used the rate of those who stayed in the study, in that particular arm of the trial, and apply this also to those who did not. We would have undertaken a sensitivity analysis testing how prone the primary outcomes were

to change when data only from people who completed the study to that point were compared to the ITT analysis using the above assumptions.

3. Continuous

3.1. Attrition

In cases where attrition for a continuous outcome was between 0% and 50%, and data from only participants who completed the study to that point were reported, we would have reproduced these.

3.2. Standard deviations

If the SDs were not reported, we would have tried to obtain the missing values from the authors. If this was not possible, where there were missing measures of variance for continuous data, but an exact standard error and CIs were available for group means, and either P value or t value was available for differences in mean, we would have calculated them according to the rules described in the Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions (Deeks 2011). When only the standard error was reported, we would have calculated SDs by using the formula $SD = SE \times square$ root (n). The Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions presents detailed formulae for estimating SDs from P values, t or F values, CIs, ranges or other statistics (Deeks 2011). If these formulae did not apply, we would have calculated the SDs according to a validated imputation method that was based on the SDs of the other included studies (Furukawa 2006). Although some of these imputation strategies can introduce error, the alternative would be to exclude a given study's outcome and thus to lose information. Nevertheless, we would have examined the validity of the imputations in a sensitivity analysis excluding imputed values.

3.3. Assumptions about participants who left the trials early or were lost to follow-up

Various methods are available to account for participants who left the trials early or were lost to follow-up. Some trials present only the results of study completed, while other trials use the method of last observation carried forward (LOCF). More recently, methods such as multiple imputation or mixed-effects models for repeated measurements (MMRM) have become a standard. While the latter methods seem somewhat better than LOCF (Leon 2006), we feel that a higher percentage of participants leaving the studies early and differences in the reasons for leaving the studies early between groups are often the core problem in randomised schizophrenia trials, and therefore would not exclude studies based on the statistical approach used. However, we would have preferred the use of more sophisticated approaches, for example MMRM or multipleimputation over LOCF, and we would have only presented completer analyses if no ITT data were available. Moreover, we would have addressed this issue in the item 'incomplete outcome data' of the 'Risk of bias' tool.

Assessment of heterogeneity

I. Clinical heterogeneity

We planned to consider all included studies initially without seeing comparison data to judge clinical heterogeneity. We would have simply inspected all studies for clearly outlying participants or situations that we had not predicted. We would have discussed fully such situations or participant groups.

2. Methodological heterogeneity

We planned to consider all included studies initially without seeing comparison data to judge methodological heterogeneity. We would have simply inspected all studies for clearly outlying methods that we had not predicted and discussed such methodological outliers.

3. Statistical heterogeneity

3.1. Visual inspection

We planned to visually inspect graphs to investigate the possibility of statistical heterogeneity.

3.2. Employing the I² statistic

We planned to investigate heterogeneity between studies by considering the I² method alongside the Chi² P value. The I² statistic provides an estimate of the percentage of inconsistency thought to be due to chance (Higgins 2003). The importance of the observed value of the I² statistic depends on the magnitude and direction of the effects and the strength of evidence for heterogeneity (e.g. P value from the Chi² test or a CI for the I² statistic). Values of 0% to 40% might not be important; 30% to 60% may represent moderate heterogeneity; 50% to 90% may represent substantial heterogeneity and 75% to 100% represents considerable heterogeneity (Deeks 2011).

Assessment of reporting biases

I. Protocol versus full study

Reporting biases arise when the dissemination of research findings is influenced by the nature and direction of the results. These are described in Section 10.1 of the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Sterne 2011). We would have tried to

locate protocols of included RCTs. If the protocol was available, we would have compared the outcomes in the protocol and those in the published report. If the protocol was not available, we would have compared the outcomes listed in the methods section of the trial report with actually reported results.

2. Funnel plot

Reporting biases arise when the dissemination of research findings is influenced by the nature and direction of the results (Egger 1997). These are described in Chapter 10 of the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Sterne 2011). We are aware that funnel plots may be useful in investigating reporting biases, but are of limited power to detect small-study effects. We decided not to use funnel plots for outcomes where there were 10 or fewer studies, or where all studies were of a similar size. In other cases, where funnel plots were possible, we would have sought statistical advice in their interpretation.

Data synthesis

We understand that there is no closed argument for preference for the use of fixed-effect or random-effects models. The randomeffects method incorporates an assumption that the different studies are estimating different, yet related, intervention effects. This often seems to be true to us, and the random-effects model takes into account differences between studies even if there is no statistically significant heterogeneity. However, there is a disadvantage to the random-effects model. It puts added weight on small studies, which often are the most biased ones. Depending on the direction of effect, these studies can either inflate or deflate the effect size. We planned to use the random-effects model for all analyses.

Subgroup analysis and investigation of heterogeneity

I. Subgroup analyses

1.1. Primary outcomes

We did not plan any subgroup analysis.

1.2. Clinical state, stage or problem

We proposed to undertake this review and to provide an overview of the effects of information strategies to share the diagnosis of schizophrenia in general. In addition, we planned to report data on subgroups of people in the same clinical state, stage and with similar problems.

2. Investigation of heterogeneity

If inconsistency was high, we would have reported this. First, we would have investigated whether the data had been entered correctly. Second, if data were correct, we would have visually inspected the graph and successively removed outlier studies to see if homogeneity was restored. We decided that should this have occurred with data contributing to the summary finding of no more than around 10% of the total weighting, data would have been presented. If not, we would have not pooled data and would have discussed issues. We know of no supporting research for this 10% cutoff, but are investigating the use of prediction intervals as an alternative to this unsatisfactory state.

When unanticipated clinical or methodological heterogeneity was obvious, we would have simply stated hypotheses regarding these for future reviews or versions of this review. We did not anticipate undertaking analyses relating to these.

Sensitivity analysis

I. Implication of randomisation

We aimed to include trials in a sensitivity analysis if they were described in such a way as to imply randomisation. For the primary outcomes, if inclusion of data from these trials did not result in a substantive difference, they would have remained in the analyses. If their inclusion did result in important clinically significant but not necessarily statistically significant differences, we would not have added the data from these lower-quality studies to the results of the better-quality trials, but would have presented such data within a subcategory.

2. Assumptions for lost binary data

Where we had to make assumptions regarding participants lost to follow-up (see Dealing with missing data), we would have compared the findings of the primary outcomes when we used our assumptions and when we used data only from participants who complete the study to that point. If there was a substantial difference, we would have reported results and discussed them but would have continued to employ our assumption.

Where we had to make assumptions regarding missing SDs (see Dealing with missing data), we would have compared the findings of the primary outcomes when we used our assumptions and when we used data only from participants who completed the study to that point. We planned to undertake a sensitivity analysis, testing how prone results were to change when completer-only data were compared to the imputed data using the above assumption. If there was a substantial difference, we would have reported and discuss it but would have continued to employ our assumption.

3. Risk of bias

For the primary outcomes, we planned to analyse the effects of excluding trials that were judged at high risk of bias across one or more of the domains of randomisation (implied as randomised with no further details available, allocation concealment, blinding and outcome reporting). If excluding trials at high risk of bias did not substantially alter the direction of effect or the precision of the effect estimates, then we would have included data from these trials in the analysis.

4. Imputed values

For the primary outcomes, we also planned to undertake a sensitivity analysis to assess the effects of including data from trials where we used imputed values for the ICC in calculating the design effect in cluster randomised trials.

5. Fixed-effect and random-effects models

We planned to synthesise all data using a random-effects model; however, we would have also synthesised data for the primary outcomes using a fixed-effect model to evaluate whether this altered the significance of the results.

RESULTS

Description of studies

We found no studies that met our inclusion criteria.

Results of the search

We identified 44 records through database searches. No additional records were identified through other sources. We screened these 44 records. Seven records referring to seven studies appeared to be relevant but were excluded after further inspection. See Figure 1.



Figure 1. Flow diagram trial selection from search results.

Included studies

We found no studies that met our inclusion criteria.

Excluded studies

The search found seven potential RCTs (Arvidsson 2014; Haggarty 2008; Hamann 2006; Sousa 2013; Van Os 2004; Weisman 2014; Wirshing 2005). None of these seven trials assessed the effectiveness of a communication strategy or any other intervention to discuss the diagnosis of schizophrenia and we excluded them.

The excluded studies tested a variety of interventions, mostly communication skills post diagnosis. Arvidsson 2014 and Van Os 2004 evaluated a two-way Communication Checklist (2-COM) as a communication tool to provide an opportunity for patients to voice their needs and problem to minimise the discrepancy and miscommunication between patient and professional carer. None of these communication tools aimed to address the communication of the diagnosis. Hamann 2006 and Haggarty 2008 investigated a decision aid to facilitate shared decision making for inpatients. Wirshing 2005 evaluated a videotape intervention to enhance the informed consent process for research. Sousa 2013 described an RCT of a collaborative intervention to promote recovery. Weisman 2014 conducted an RCT to test efficacy of a familyfocused culturally adapted therapy for schizophrenia.

These trials may be relevant for a systematic review on shared decision making or strategies to enhance communication between patients and professionals.

Risk of bias in included studies

We found no studies that met our inclusion criteria.

Effects of interventions

See: **Summary of findings for the main comparison** Different communication strategies versus treatment as usual We found no studies that met our inclusion criteria.

DISCUSSION

For this review, we defined the intervention as any communication strategy or model used specifically for initial sharing of information about the diagnosis of schizophrenia or related disorders. We hypothesised that such a communication strategy would help the clinician to inform the patient about the nature of the condition in a manner that would help patients and their carers process the information, which would lead to better outcomes.

Summary of main results

We found no studies that compared an intervention to communicate the diagnosis of schizophrenia to patients and their carers with treatment as usual. We primarily searched intervention studies but also reviewed other relevant literature, which showed that delivery of diagnosis to psychiatric patients is not researched well (Cleary 2009).

Overall completeness and applicability of evidence

Currently, there is no randomised controlled evidence. It is unlikely that we have missed any RCTs in view of the comprehensive literature search strategy. The lack of studies means that, presently, there is no evidence from RCTs to guide practice and psychiatrists.

Quality of the evidence

We found no studies that met our inclusion criteria.

Potential biases in the review process

There are few potential biases in the review process. The search for trials was thorough with no language, date, document type or publication status limitations and it is unlikely it missed any studies; however, publication bias cannot be entirely ruled out as a possible bias.

Agreements and disagreements with other studies or reviews

In view of the lack of studies, co-comparisons were difficult. One review of the literature also found no communication strategies available for diagnosis of schizophrenia and suggested that the SPIKES (S: setting up; P: assessing the patient's perception; I: obtaining the patient's invitation; K: giving knowledge and information to the patient; E: addressing the patient's emotions with empathic responses; S: strategy and summary) model could be applied to schizophrenia (Seeman 2010). However, this was a qualitative review of the literature, and as in our review, no evidence from RCTs was available.

We found studies that discussed the general communication needs of patients and how these could be met with communication needs related to the information about medication, adverse effects of medication, problems experienced by carers and their communication needs. However, none of the studies examined the communication needs specific to delivery of diagnosis (Dott 2001; Priebe 2007).

Some non-randomised studies suggested that a substitute diagnosis in place of a schizophrenia diagnosis is often provided (Luderer 1993; McDonald-Scott 1992), even when the service users asked for exact diagnosis (McDonald-Scott 1992). There is still, today, a general lack of guidance on how the news about the diagnosis of schizophrenia is communicated to patients and their carers. In one qualitative study from Australia, carers described the "long and difficult pathway" to being given a diagnosis and haphazard means of finding a diagnosis (Outram 2015). This may be due to a number of challenges related to the nomenclature, uncertainties surrounding the diagnosis of schizophrenia, its variable outcome and the stigma associated with having a serious mental illness.

AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

Implications for practice

I. For people with schizophrenia

Currently there is no evidence from randomised controlled trials (RCTs) on how disclosure of diagnosis is best done for schizophrenia. However, service users should be encouraged to ask basic questions about the diagnosis and how this was reached.

2. For clinicians

Clinicians need to be aware of the lack of evidence-base in this area and there is a need for further research. For now, developing skills based on best practice in the communication of bad news in other branches of medicine or in other psychiatric conditions such as dementia or learning disability is the only available option. However, in view of the unique nature of schizophrenia considerable modifications would be needed.

3. For funders and managers

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence guidelines recommend that the information about both the causes and treatment options for schizophrenia are discussed with the patients and carers. However, there is little guidance, if any, on how the diagnosis is delivered (NICE 2009).

There is a need to evaluate how current practice affects patients, how much they want to know and the impact of disclosure of the diagnosis. Limited literature suggests that the communication priorities of service users and providers differ considerably and this communication gap can have serious implications and the source of distress for service users (McCabe 2008). In most high-income countries people with first episode psychosis are under the care of Early Intervention in Psychosis services and are likely to receive the diagnosis of schizophrenia from these services so the managers and commissioners for these services need to be aware of the lack of evidence base in relation to the delivery of diagnosis. There is an urgent need to fund the studies which explore this specific area.

Implications for research

I. General

There is an enormous gap in the knowledge in this area. As described above, some studies suggest that almost half of service users with schizophrenia had not received any detailed information about their diagnosis, and the practice of psychiatrists varied considerably. The anecdotal evidence seems to suggest that people with schizophrenia 'learn' the diagnosis, as they 'experience' the psychiatric services (Farooq 2015). RCTs are needed to evaluate the effectiveness of models which help the clinicians to deliver diagnosis.

Further research is needed to develop models for communicating the diagnosis of schizophrenia. Research to understand the perception and communication needs of people with schizophrenia will help to develop the theoretical underpinning for the relevant interventions in this area. It should be possible, for example, to design a communication checklist which will help to complete of all the necessary steps in sharing the information about the diagnosis of schizophrenia. Such communication checklists have been developed and evaluated in RCTS to help communication post diagnosis (Dott 2001; van Os 2004).

2. Specific

Therefore, three priority areas for research in this area are identified.

1. To understand the views and experiences of people with schizophrenia, carers and clinicians receiving and giving information related to diagnosis treatment options and prognosis of schizophrenia.

2. To design interventions that improve the communication skills of mental health professionals to share the information about the diagnosis treatment options and prognosis of schizophrenia.

3. To evaluate these interventions in RCTs.

The literature on communication skills training for other serious illnesses such as cancer can provide some insights into designing the trials in this area (Moore 2013). First, there is need to develop core study outcomes, both for clinicians and patients that can

be used in these trials. Second, the validated scales to measure the communication skills of clinicians in communicating the bad news will need to be developed. A common technique used in the literature in oncology is to use simulated patients for assessing the effectiveness of communication skills training, which will be helpful in the field of schizophrenia, as there is no experience at present in structured patient communication with patients to share the bad news about the diagnosis of the illness. A possible design for future trial is described. It must be noted that any trial in the present state of knowledge will be exploratory in nature, which will help to inform the suitable outcome measures, the scale to measure these outcomes and possible power calculations. See also Table 1 and Table 2.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Cochrane Schizophrenia Group Editorial Base in Nottingham, UK produces and maintains standard text for use in the Methods section of their reviews. We used this text as the basis of what appears here and adapted it as required.

The Trials Search Co-ordinator of the Cochrane Schizophrenia Group and the contact author of this review developed the search terms.

We would like to thank Malgorzata M Bala for peer reviewing the protocol, and Victoria Bird and Bello Utoblo for peer reviewing the review.

REFERENCES

References to studies excluded from this review

Arvidsson 2014 {published data only}

Arvidsson H, Olin E, Strand J, Tidafors I. Effects of the Two-Way Communication Checklist (2-COM): a one-year cluster randomized study in a group of severely mentally ill persons. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry* 2014;**60**: 95–9.

Haggarty 2008 {published data only}

Haggarty J, Haslam D, Holding C, Armstrong D. Clinical findings of a cluster randomised controlled trial of a Canadian shared care service for those with chronic mental illness. *Primary Care & Community Psychiatry* 2008;**13**(1): 19–25.

Hamann 2006 {published data only}

Hamann J, Langer B, Winkler V, Busch R, Cohen R, Leucht S, Kissling W. Shared decision making for in-patients with schizophrenia. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica* 2006;**114**(4): 265–73.

Sousa 2013 {published data only}

Sousa SA, Corriveau D, Lee AF, Bianco LG, Sousa GM. The LORS enabled dialogue: a collaborative intervention to promote recovery from psychotic disorders. *Psychiatric Services (Washington, D.C.)* 2013;**64**:58–64.

Van Os 2004 {published data only}

Van Os J, Altamura CA, Bobes J, Gerlach J, Hellewell JES, Kasper S, et al. Evaluation of the Two-Way Communication Checklist as a clinical intervention: results of a multinational, randomised controlled trial. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 2004;**184**:79–88.

Weisman 2014 {published data only}

Weisman AG, Weintraub MJ, Gurak K, Maura J. A randomized clinical trial to test the efficacy of a family-focused, culturally informed therapy for schizophrenia. *Journal of Family Psychology* 2014;**28**(6):800–10.

Wirshing 2005 {published data only}

Wirshing DA, Sergi MJ, Mintz J. A videotape intervention to enhance the informed consent process for medical and psychiatric treatment research. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 2005;**162**:186–8.

Additional references

Altman 1996

Altman DG, Bland JM. Detecting skewness from summary information. *BMJ* 1996;**313**(7066):1200.

APA 2013

American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*. Washington (DC): APA, 2013.

Bland 1997

Bland JM. Statistics notes. Trials randomised in clusters. *BMJ* 1997;**315**:600.

Boissel 1999

Boissel JP, Cucherat M, Li W, Chatellier G, Gueyffier F, Buyse M, et al. The problem of therapeutic efficacy indices. 3. Comparison of the indices and their use [Apercu sur la problematique des indices d'efficacite therapeutique, 3: comparaison des indices et utilisation. Groupe d'Etude des Indices D'efficacite]. *Therapie* 1999;**54**(4):405–11. [PUBMED: 10667106]

Buckman 1992

Buckman R. *How to Break Bad News. A Guide for Health Care Professionals.* Baltimore (MD): Johns Hopkins University Press, 1992.

Carpenter 2004

Carpenter B, Dave J. Disclosing a dementia diagnosis: a review of opinion and practice, and a proposed research agenda. *Gerontologist* 2004;**44**(2):149–58.

Clafferty 2001

Clafferty RA, McCabe W, Brown KW. Conspiracy of silence? Telling patients with schizophrenia their diagnosis. *Psychiatric Bulletin* 2001;**25**:336–9.

Cleary 2009

Cleary M, Hunt GE, Horsfall J. Delivering difficult news in psychiatric settings. *Harvard Review of Psychiatry* 2009;**1**7 (5):315–21.

Deeks 2000

Deeks J. Issues in the selection for meta-analyses of binary data. 8th International Cochrane Colloquium; 2000 Oct 25-28; Cape Town. Cape Town: The Cochrane Collaboration, 2000.

Deeks 2011

Deeks JJ, Higgins JPT, Altman DG. Chapter 9: Analysing data and undertaking meta-analyses. In: Higgins JPT, Green S, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 (updated March 2011). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from www.handbook.cochrane.org.

Dickerson 2002

Dickerson FB, Sommerville J, Origoni AE, Ringel NB, Parente F. Experiences of stigma among outpatients with schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Bulletin* 2002;**28**(1):143–55.

Divine 1992

Divine GW, Brown JT, Frazier LM. The unit of analysis error in studies about physicians' patient care behavior. *Journal of General Internal Medicine* 1992;7(6):623–9.

Donner 2002

Donner A, Klar N. Issues in the meta-analysis of cluster randomized trials. *Statistics in Medicine* 2002;**21**:2971–80.

Dott 2001

Dott SG, Weiden P, Hopwood P, Awad AG, Hellewell JS, Knesevich J, et al. An innovative approach to clinical communication in schizophrenia: the approaches to schizophrenia communication checklists. *CNS Spectrums* 2001;**6**(4):333–8.

Egger 1997

Egger M, Davey Smith G, Schneider M, Minder C. Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test. *BMJ* 1997;**315**:629–34.

Elbourne 2002

Elbourne D, Altman DG, Higgins JPT, Curtina F, Worthington HV, Vaile A. Meta-analyses involving crossover trials: methodological issues. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 2002;**31**(1):140–9.

Fallowfield 2004

Fallowfield L, Jenkins V. Communicating sad, bad, and difficult news in medicine. *Lancet* 2004;**363**:312–9.

Farooq 2015

Farooq S, Kingston P, Regan J. Working through interpreters in old age psychiatry - a literature review. *Mental Health Review Journal* 2015;**20**(1):36–47.

Furukawa 2006

Furukawa TA, Barbui C, Cipriani A, Brambilla P, Watanabe N. Imputing missing standard deviations in meta-analyses can provide accurate results. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2006;**59**(7):7–10.

Gallagher 2010

Gallagher A, Arber A, Chaplin R, Quirk A. Service users' experience of receiving bad news about their mental health. *Journal of Mental Health* 2010;**19**:34–42.

General Medical Council 2009

General Medical Council. *Tomorrow's Doctors: Outcomes* and Standards for Undergraduate Medical Education. Manchester (UK): General Medical Council, UK, 2009.

Green 1984

Green RS. Why schizophrenic patients should be told their diagnosis. *Hospital and Community Psychiatry* 1984;**35**: 76–7.

Gulliford 1999

Gulliford MC. Components of variance and intraclass correlations for the design of community-based surveys and intervention studies: data from the Health Survey for England 1994. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 1999;**149**: 876–83.

Higgins 2003

Higgins JP, Thompson SG, Deeks JJ, Altman DG. Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. *BMJ* 2003;**327**: 557–60.

Higgins 2011a

Higgins JPT, Green S. Chapter 7: Selecting studies and collecting data. In: Higgins JPT, Green S, editor (s), Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 (updated March 2011). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from www.handbook.cochrane.org.

Higgins 2011b

Higgins JPT, Altman DG, Sterne JAC. Chapter 8: Assessing risk of bias in included studies. In: Higgins JPT, Green S, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 (updated March 2011). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from www.handbook.cochrane.org.

Hutton 2009

Hutton JL. Number needed to treat and number needed to harm are not the best way to report and assess the results of randomised clinical trials. *British Journal of Haematology* 2009;**146**(1):27–30.

Hwang 2008

Hwang W. Diagnostic nondisclosure of schizophrenia to Chinese American patients. *Asian Journal of Counselling* 2008;**16**(4):269–76.

Kay 1986

Kay SR, Opler LA, Fiszbein A. *Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS) Manual.* North Tonawanda, NY: Multi-Health Systems, 1986.

Krupa 2004

Krupa T. Employment, recovery, and schizophrenia: integrating health and disorder at work. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal* 2004;**28**(1):8–15.

Lauber 2003

Lauber C, Rossler W. Relatives and their attitude to early detection of schizophrenic psychosis. *The Psychiatrist* 2003; **27**:134–6.

Leon 2006

Leon AC, Mallinckrodt CH, Chuang-Stein C, Archibald DG, Archer GE, Chartier K. Attrition in randomized

controlled clinical trials: methodological issues in psychopharmacology. *Biological Psychiatry* 2006;**59**(11): 1001–5. [PUBMED: 16905632]

Leucht 2005a

Leucht S, Kane JM, Kissling W, Hamann J, Etschel E, Engel R. Clinical implications of brief psychiatric rating scale scores. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 2005;**187**:366–71. [PUBMED: 16199797]

Leucht 2005b

Leucht S, Kane JM, Kissling W, Hamann J, Etschel E, Engel RR. What does the PANSS mean?. *Schizophrenia Research* 2005;**79**(2-3):231–8. [PUBMED: 15982856]

Lieberman 2007

Lieberman JA, First MB. Renaming schizophrenia. *BMJ* 2007;**334**:108.

Luderer 1993

Luderer HJ, Bocker FM. Clinicians' information habits, patients' knowledge of diagnoses and etiological concepts in four different clinical samples. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica* 1993;**88**:66–72.

Marshall 2000

Marshall M, Lockwood A, Bradley C, Adams C, Joy C, Fenton M. Unpublished rating scales: a major source of bias in randomised controlled trials of treatments for schizophrenia. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 2000;**176**: 249–52.

Marzanski 2000

Marzanski M. Would you like to know what is wrong with you? On telling the truth to patients with dementia. *Journal* of Medical Ethics 2000;**26**:108–13.

McCabe 2008

McCabe R, Priebe S. Communication and psychosis: it's good to talk, but how?. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 2008; **192**(6):404–5.

McDonald-Scott 1992

McDonald-Scott P, Machizawa S, Satoh H. Diagnostic disclosure: a tale in two cultures. *Psychological Medicine* 1992;**22**:147–57.

McGrath 2008

McGrath J, Saha S, Chant D, Welham J. Schizophrenia: a concise overview of incidence, prevalence, and mortality. *Epidemiologic Reviews* 2008;**30:8**:67–76.

Mitchell 2007

Mitchell AJ. Reluctance to disclose difficult diagnoses: a narrative review comparing communication by psychiatrists and oncologists. *Supportive Care in Cancer* 2007;**15**(7): 819–28.

Moore 2013

Moore PM, Rivera Mercado S, Grez Artigues M, Lawrie TA. Communication skills training for healthcare professionals working with people who have cancer. *Cochrane Database* of *Systematic Reviews* 2013, Issue 3. [DOI: 10.1002/ 14651858.CD003751.pub3

NICE 2009

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Schizophrenia: Core Interventions in the Treatment and Management of Schizophrenia in Primary and Secondary Care. London (UK): National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence, 2009.

Outram 2015

Outram S, Harris G, Kelly B, Bylund CL, Cohen M, Landa Y, et al. We did not have a clue: family caregivers' experience of communication of a diagnosis of schizophrenia. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry* 2015;**60**(1):10–6.

Overall 1962

Overall JE, Gorham DR. The brief psychiatric rating scale. *Psychological Reports* 1962;**10**:799–812.

Papageorgiou 2017

Papageorgiou A, Loke YK, Fromage M. Communication skills training for mental health professionals working with people with severe mental illness. *Cochrane Database* of Systematic Reviews 2017, Issue 6. [DOI: 10.1002/ 14651858.CD010006.pub2

Priebe 2007

Priebe S, McCabe R, Bullenkamp J, Hansson L, Lauber C, Martinez-Leal R, et al. Structured patient-clinician communication and 1-year outcome in community mental healthcare. Cluster randomised controlled trial. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 2007;**191**:420–6.

Schünemann 2011

Schünemann HJ, Oxman AD, Vist GE, Higgins JPT, Deeks JJ, Glasziou P, et al. Chapter 12: Interpreting results and drawing conclusions. In Higgins JPT, Green S (editors), Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 (updated March 2011). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from handbook.cochrane.org.

Seeman 2010

Seeman MV. Breaking bad news: schizophrenia. *Journal of Psychiatric Practice* 2010;**16**(4):269–76.

Shergill 1998

Shergill SS, Barker D, Greenberg M. Communication of psychiatric diagnosis. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology* 1998;**33**:32–8.

Sterne 2011

Sterne JAC, Egger M, Moher D. Chapter 10: Addressing reporting biases. In: Higgins JPT, Green S, editor (s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Intervention. Version 5.1.0 (updated March 2011). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from www.handbook.cochrane.org.

Tuffrey-Wijne 2013

Tuffrey-Wijne I. A new model for breaking bad news to people with intellectual disabilities. *Palliative Medicine* 2013;**27**:5–12.

Ukoumunne 1999

Ukoumunne OC, Gulliford MC, Chinn S, Sterne JAC, Burney PGJ. Methods for evaluating area-wide and

organisation-based intervention in health and health care: a systematic review. *Health Technology Assessment* 1999;**3**(5): 1–75.

van Os 2004

van Os J, Altamura AC, Bobes J, Gerlach J, Hellewell J, Kasper S, et al. Evaluation of the two-way communication checklist as a clinical intervention. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 2004;**184**(1):79–83.

Xia 2009

Xia J, Adams CE, Bhagat N, Bhagat V, Bhoopathi P, El-Sayeh H, et al. Loss to outcomes stakeholder survey: the LOSS study. Psychiatric Bulletin 2009;33(7):254-7.

Xia 2011

Xia J, Merinder LB, Belgamwar MR. Psychoeducation for schizophrenia. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2011, Issue 6. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD002831.pub2

Üçok 2004

Üçok A, Polat A, Sartorius N, Erkoç S, Atakli C. Attitudes of psychiatrists toward patients with schizophrenia. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences* 2004;**58**:89–91.

* Indicates the major publication for the study

CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES

Characteristics of excluded studies [ordered by study ID]

Study	Reason for exclusion
Arvidsson 2014	Allocation: cluster randomised controlled trial. Participants: people with schizophrenia or schizoaffective syndromes Intervention: communication tool to enhance the sense of empowerment, satisfaction with care, therapeutic alliance and unmet needs post diagnosis Reason for exclusion: not specifically interventions regarding the delivery of diagnosis of schizophrenia
Haggarty 2008	Allocation: cluster randomised controlled trial. Participants: people with schizophrenia and related disorders Intervention: a shared care model of Transition into Primary care Psychiatry Reason for exclusion: not specifically interventions regarding the delivery of diagnosis of schizophrenia
Hamann 2006	Allocation: randomised controlled trial. Participants: inpatients with schizophrenia. Intervention: shared decision-making programme post diagnosis Reason for exclusion: not specifically interventions regarding the delivery of diagnosis of schizophrenia
Sousa 2013	Allocation: randomised controlled trial. Participants: people with psychotic disorders (schizophrenia, bipolar and depression with psychotic features) Intervention: levels of recovery from Psychotic Disorders Scale enabled dialogue to reduce discrepancy between patient and clinician in assessing symptoms, adherence and functionality post diagnosis Reason for exclusion: not specifically interventions regarding the delivery of diagnosis of schizophrenia
Van Os 2004	Allocation: randomised controlled trial. Participants: schizophrenia. Intervention: a 2-way communication checklist as a clinical intervention to improve communication between patients and the professionals post diagnosis Reason for exclusion: not specifically interventions regarding the delivery of diagnosis of schizophrenia
Weisman 2014	Allocation: randomised controlled trial. Participants: people with schizophrenia and related disorders Intervention: family-focused, culturally informed therapy. Reason for exclusion: not specifically interventions regarding the delivery of diagnosis of schizophrenia
Wirshing 2005	Allocation: randomised controlled trial. Participants: people with schizophrenia. Intervention: a videotape intervention to enhance the informed consent process for medical and psychiatric treat- ment research Reason for exclusion: not specifically interventions regarding the delivery of diagnosis of schizophrenia

DATA AND ANALYSES

This review has no analyses.

ADDITIONAL TABLES

Table 1. Suggested future trial

Methods	Procedure	Comments	
Randomisation and allocation	Randomisation using computer-generated numbers. Allocation using sealed envelopes.	d It may not be possible to have a double-blin design in these trials. It will be important that the assessors of the outcome measures are blin to the allocation of participants	
Participants	Resident psychiatrists who have been in train- ing for at least 3 years and treating patients who are willing to participate in the communication skill training programme aimed at disclosing the diagnosis of schizophrenia and its assessment procedure. They will be randomised to an in- tervention and a waiting list control	-	
Interventions	Intervention: a communication strategy to disclose the diagnosis and outcome of schizophrenia consisting of a standard training programme. The training programme would consist of 1. standard content regarding knowledge about the diagnosis of schizophrenia, nature of illness and possible outcomes and 2. necessary communication skills to deliver the bad news The training package will be delivered using the following teaching methodologies: 1. 1-hour theoretical session; 2. role play of predefined cases in sharing information about diagnosis and outcome of schizophrenia and detailed feedback about the performance in role play; 3. small groups discussion (maximum 5 participants) about the practical problems in communicating with patients and stress management techniques to overcome the emotional distress when sharing the bad news Control: a group of resident psychiatrists on waiting list.	The training methods vary immensely in the present literature on communicating bad news. This may consist of face-to-face individual or group training sessions. The training will de- pend upon the guidance developed in sharing information about the diagnosis and outcome and underlying theoretical framework	
Outcome measures	Physicians in each group will communicate the news about the diagnosis and outcome of schizophrenia for a standardised patient (SP) encounter. The skills of trainee psychiatrists in both groups will be analysed using the records	We suggest the scoring for communication skills rated on the video-taped interviews. They can also be rated 'live' when the actual interview is taking place. Simulated patient consultations are routinely used in assessing the interviewing	

Table 1. Suggested future trial (Continued)

of the patient encounter recorded earlier. Out- come measures will consist of scores by inde- pendent assessor and the report of SP involved in the interview. The assessors will be blind to the status of trainees, as to which group they belong. Each encounter will be recorded using a predetermined scoring sheet on the following aspects 1. Understanding the nature of illness and its outcome, defined by SP 2. Satisfaction with interview as reported by as- sessor and SP 3. Communication skills of the resident psy- chiatrists using the content analysis, verbal and non-verbal communications checklist 4. Any distressing experience by the SP.	and communication skills and are useful in pro- viding the insight initially. After initial studies, real patients could be recruited

Table 2. Comparisons relevant to other reviews suggested by excluded studies

Intervention	Control	Participants	Reference tag	Potential Cochrane ti- tle
Communication check- list	Psychoeducation or treatment as usual	People recently diagnosed with schizophrenia based on a standard diagnostic cri- teria or carers, or both	Arvidsson 2014; Van Os 2004	Communication check- lists for discussing the diagnosis, treatment op- tions and prognosis of schizophrenia
Shared decision making	Treatment as usual or psychoeducation	People recently diagnosed with schizophrenia based on a standard diagnostic cri- teria or carers, or both	Hamann 2006	Shared decision making for treatment planning in schizophrenia and re- lated disorders

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

SF: developed the protocol, is the guarantor for the review and supervised the overall process of selection of studies, and completed the final draft.

RJ: helped with the protocol and in screening the literature search.

CZ: helped in screening the literature search, selected studies for further examination and assisted SF in writing the final draft.

FN: developed the protocol, selected studies for further examination and assisted SF in writing the final draft.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

SF: none known.

RJ: none known.

CZ: none known.

FN: none known.

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

• Research Institute for Primary Care and Health Science, Keele University, UK. Employs lead author Saeed Farooq.

• Queen's University, Kingston, Canada.

Employs review authors Rupinder K Johal and Farooq Naeem.

• New Cross Hospital, Wolverhampton, UK.

Employs review author Charlotte Ziff.

External sources

• No sources of support supplied

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW

We have expanded the background substantially to clarify our intervention in that delivery of diagnosis not only involves revealing the diagnosis but also involves communication regarding treatment options and prognosis for the patient. We wanted to distinguish this from general communication between clinicians and patients during treatment, which is the focus of another Cochrane review (Papageorgiou 2017).

We have extended the age of participants to greater than 16 years, as the age of onset of schizophrenia, particularly for males, and therefore when diagnosis is most likely to be given is late adolescence, early adulthood. This expansion and clarification of the definition did not change our inclusion criteria or objectives of the original protocol. We have also expanded our 'Why it is important to do this review' section. We have reordered and reworded the outcomes to help categorise data collection into continuous or binary but not changed the type of outcomes required. We have specified that all 'Summary of findings' table outcomes should be clinically important.